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  Foreword




  BY SIR JACKIE STEWART




  MARK WEBBER HAS HAD A WONDERFUL CAREER AS A TOP-LINE racing driver. The first time I ever heard his name was from Ann Neal, his

  long-term partner, who was trying to get Mark to drive in Britain for the British Formula Three Championship. I was running Paul Stewart Racing with my son Paul at that time, and we were regular

  winners. Ann thought that Mark would be an ideal young, up-and-coming driver for us to take on. Yet, unfortunately we had committed to our drivers by the time Ann called and, therefore, we were

  unable to add Mark to our team.




  However, I then took an interest in following his career and was enormously impressed, like an awful lot of other folk, when he came fifth in the Australian Grand Prix, in Melbourne, driving a

  Minardi. In fact, Mark’s fifth-place finish, in a car that had never appeared so high on the leader’s board, got a bigger ovation than the winner of the race that year. It was a

  tremendous achievement by a young Australian, in what was not expected to be a World Championship points collector car. All of the Formula One folk were mightily impressed and, from that time on,

  Mark was high on the list of any Formula One Team; which, of course, was the start of a very successful and impressive career at the highest levels of motorsport for Mark.




  For me, Mark Webber is one of my really good friends. He’s very enjoyable company, has a great sense of humour and we spend quite a lot of time together, either at my house, on the

  telephone, or in our travels around the world. His mum and dad are wonderful people too, and you can see where Mark has got his charm from. In addition to which, all the girls fancy Mark Webber!

  He’s a good conversationalist, he is certainly a good-looking man, with a great physique, which has not gone unnoticed among his female admirers. But he’s very unspoiled by it, which is

  a rare commodity. He is extremely unassuming, very loyal and dependable.




  Mark has had huge success as a racing driver and could easily have won the World Championship, in my opinion, under different circumstances. The occasion when he came closest to achieving this

  was when he followed Alonso, at very close proximity, all the way through the Abu Dhabi Grand Prix, which was the last race of the season. The modern Grand Prix tracks allow drivers to make

  mistakes, run wide, so when Alonso made such errors and previously all Mark would have needed to do was to finish ahead of him to secure the World Championship that year, Fernando used as much road

  as he needed, therefore not allowing Mark to overtake him.




  In years past, nobody could have done that, because going wide on a corner would have meant getting on the grass with little or no traction and maybe even having an accident. However, because of

  the modern tracks being so forgiving, Mark, in my opinion, was robbed that year of becoming World Champion.




  My most enjoyable times with Mark have always been away from the track. His casual approach to dress code is somewhat contrary to my philosophy and, of course, it’s something that we still

  joke about often. My funniest experience was when I was somewhat in awe of Mark winning the Monaco Grand Prix for the first time and we were in attendance at the glamorous gala which takes place at

  the Sporting Club in Monte Carlo on the Sunday night of the race weekend. The visiting dignitaries and the past winners, in the case of myself and Helen, were seated at the table of Their Serene

  Highnesses, all dressed in black tie and the ladies in long dresses, and all their finest jewellery.




  When Mark arrived as the winner, he was wearing a pair of jeans, a T-shirt and running trainers! Most of us were taken aback, to say the least, but not our Mark; he was comfortable, he was at

  ease, and it had never occurred to him – or I fear Ann – when packing to come to the Riviera for the Grand Prix that he might win the race and, under such circumstances, would be

  expected to be in black tie and evening wear; not to mention sitting with Their Serene Highnesses. I, of course, took best advantage of giving him a hard time, but he handled the whole thing with

  great style and, indeed, elegance. Nevertheless, when he won the Grand Prix for the second time, he was fully prepared to be in black tie and looking a million dollars.




  He’s now living a life out of Formula One and driving for one of the great brands of the world, Porsche, in the World Endurance Championship. He is also venturing into the arena of media

  and public speaking, where he’s learning that presentation skills and dress code are sometimes just as important as knowing the right people, saying the right things and driving the right

  cars.




  This book is indeed well overdue because of what Mark has achieved in motor racing. Most people would be extremely proud of what he has accomplished. He has carried himself in a very dignified

  fashion and has remained a true Australian, in the fullest sense, and is much loved because of that. There are no sides and no airs and graces to Mark Webber. What you see is what you get, and what

  you get is great value and, if you are me, great friendship.




  





  
Prologue




  ‘MULTI 21’: A RAG TO A RED BULL




  WHEN THE TELEPHONE CALL CAME, MY FIRST REACTION WAS one of surprise.




  ‘Wow,’ I thought, ‘that’s a pretty big statement with 12 laps to go, given we’re running this way round!’




  ‘Telephone call’ is the expression we use to describe radio communication from the pit wall to the cockpit. The statement being made over the radio was ‘Multi 21’. Even

  in a sport where mixed messages are the order of the day, ‘Multi 21’ was the clearest order we could have been given. Both Sebastian Vettel and I, in Red Bull Renaults #1 and #2

  respectively, knew exactly what it meant: that our cars should finish the Malaysian Grand Prix, second round of the 2013 Formula One World Championship, in that order, #2 followed by #1, with me

  first and Sebastian second. That’s how we were running at the time, with me leading my teammate late in the race and no threat from anyone else.




  Why was I surprised? Rarely had the call come when it was in my favour, that’s why. But this time the circumstances were very much in my favour: I had timed my

  crossover – the moment at which to make the mandatory tyre change from one Pirelli compound to the other – perfectly. Seb had got tangled up with the pursuing Mercedes and I found

  myself in clear air, so I was out in front.




  I was a lot less surprised by Sebastian’s reaction to the ‘Multi 21’ message.




  After the final stops, when he was cruising up behind me, I could see the ‘letter-box’ opening on the rear wing of his car: he was using its Drag Reduction System (DRS) to increase

  his top speed. Straightaway I knew he was going against what the team had asked us to do. He was going to make it hard for me.




  Not for the first time another thought followed: ‘How the f#*k are we, as a team, in this situation?’




  In hindsight I should have turned my engine back up and got into the fight, but there was so much going on in my head that it never occurred to me to do so. We came home first and second, but

  instead of finishing with the cars in #2 and #1 order, Vettel took the victory.




  The incident was the final nail in the coffin of my relationship with Red Bull Racing at management level. ‘Multi 21’ was just one flashpoint in a sequence that began as far back as

  Istanbul in 2010. It was an important stage on my journey, but it’s not the whole story.




  This book is.




  





  
IN THE COCKPIT:


  A MARATHON IN SHOES TWO SIZES TOO SMALL




  IT’S A CLOSED WORLD.




  All your senses are either severely limited or under unremitting assault. The space you occupy is small and bloody hot.




  The helmet is tight-fitting. Your view is confined to what you can see through the ‘mailbox’ opening in your helmet and in two postage-stamp-sized rear mirrors.




  And you are in this minor hell, all going well, for two hours. You’re in isolation, but it’s far from splendid.




  The cockpit gradually becomes a lonely place as the clock ticks down to race start. In many ways it’s similar to sitting in any racing car – except it’s a lot more

  claustrophobic.




  A Grand Prix car is built for speed, not comfort. The driver doesn’t get into his car, he inserts himself into the cockpit as a living component of the machine. The cockpit is a compact

  place, especially for a driver of my dimensions. At around 184 centimetres and a fighting weight of 75 kilos I was never the ideal size or weight for a Grand Prix driver. There

  have been tall F1 drivers – men like Dan Gurney in the old days, Gerhard Berger more recently, Jenson Button today – but they are the exceptions who prove the rule. Better to be a

  jockey than a Michael Jordan.




  The space is really tight around your knees – it’s like sitting in an old-fashioned bathtub with your feet higher than your backside. The pedals are actually moulded around your

  racing boot, both for comfort and to counter excessive vibration: the last thing you want is for your foot to slip off the pedal at high speed in the middle of a race. The boots are thin-soled so

  you can feel everything and they are the one item I’m very fussy about – once I break a pair in nicely they generally last me for a season.




  Helmets are different: I go through between four and seven. The exterior takes a bit of a hammering, especially if you are coming through from the back of the grid as the ‘marbles’

  (small pieces of rubber coming off other cars’ tyres) come pinging at you on the way through. I used to push my head back into the headrest a lot because that way I could move my head around

  in the helmet a bit. The interior is customised for each driver, although not the straps, and I found they used to sit a little too far rearwards for me. At fast tracks like Monza, Red Bull Chief

  Technical Officer Adrian Newey used to hate running any little windscreens in front of the cockpit because of the aerodynamic effect, and I had to open my mouth to counteract the helmet lift from

  the onrushing air. I would end up with two bruises under my neck.




  I had only one superstition: I always got into my car from the left, a hangover from my karting days – if you got in on the right side of one of those you ended up with

  burns on your arm from the engine!




  But I did have a race-day routine. It began with a last visit to the treatment couch to have my hips and pelvis loosened up a little and my shoulders and neck rubbed.




  In F1 the pit lane opens to let the cars out on track for their final warm-up procedures half an hour before race start. At that stage I was always happy to talk to my partner, Ann, or Dad but

  people I didn’t know were kept well away.




  Then it was time to hop in. Or, more accurately, step, slither and bump into your seat, which has been almost literally tailor-made to your unique dimensions. The driver is the biggest component

  in that cockpit: they make the seat up around him, starting from behind. It couldn’t fit more snugly if it came from Savile Row.




  The seatbelts intensify that feeling. They come together in a six-pointed star at your centre: two of them come up through the groin area on either side of your manhood; and there are two lap

  straps and two shoulder straps, all designed to the nearest millimetre around your size. What most people don’t realise is that if you’re not careful the edges of the belts can fold or

  ‘pinch’ and when they do those edges can be quite sharp, especially around the more sensitive areas of a bloke’s anatomy.




  With the help of one of your pit crew, the belts are pulled extremely tight, for two reasons: the first, obviously, is to hold you in place in the event of what we call a ‘shunt’;

  the second, less obviously, is to help eliminate the muscle fatigue that would come from trying to keep yourself properly in the seat without belts. You need to be a fixed component of the

  machine.




  How tight are the belts? Back in 2001, when I won the F3000 race at Imola, I was on painkillers to counter the effects of a broken rib caused by the extreme cornering loads

  in a recent F1 test in the Benetton-Renault.




  With less than 15 minutes to race start, I sometimes hop out again – the reverse of bump-slither-step – and attend to the physical necessities or, putting it another way, go for a

  pee at the last possible moment; and stretch the lower back and glutes one last time because they are going to be immobilised for the next couple of hours. Hop back in, check the belts and HANS

  device, the one that looks after the head and neck, get as comfortable as the car allows, connect the drink bottle.




  So: you are strapped into a space barely big enough to contain you in the first place. You can scarcely move, except for your feet, arms, hands. The headrest comes in pretty snugly around you;

  down goes the visor, the radio sits about 3 millimetres off your lips, earplugs in, drink tube coming in beside the radio . . . and the sensation of enclosure is heightened even more. With that

  comes stress and elevated heart rate, which goes up because of the pressure on your ribcage; you can’t breathe normally as you would standing or running or riding a bike, you’re in a

  quite different position.




  Don’t focus too far ahead, just concentrate on getting the immediate things right. Talk to your race engineer: how strong is the wind out on the circuit? What’s the track

  temperature? Have we got our plan right for controlling the first part of the race?




  As the countdown intensifies, all the people begin to melt away. Just moments before the start of the warm-up lap may be the first time this weekend I have seen, ‘live’ as it were, the Ferrari or Mercedes alongside me on our row of the grid.




  A practice start at the end of pit lane was part of the pre-race routine; so was a full throttle check, always insisted on by engine-supplier Renault; then a radio check and an electronics check

  on the clutch. Coming through the grid was like threading the needle, manoeuvring the car through the literally hundreds of people – pit crew, media, race officials, VIPs and countless

  hangers-on – who manage to find their way out there.




  The warm-up lap is broken down into three sectors. Sector 1 is all about getting the engine cooled after sitting, sometimes for an alarmingly long time, waiting for the signal to go. Use high

  gears, say up to seventh, and sit at around 6000 revs if possible. I’m working the tyres, veering sharply from side to side to get them warm, but not overdoing the zig-zag stuff.

  ‘Engine temp fine,’ crackles through my earplugs, so it’s time to focus on the brakes. Now I can open the throttle and hit the brake pedal to warm them up without worrying about

  the effects of any overheating on the engine behind me. In Sector 3 I’m off the leash to do whatever I like on the engine front; now it’s all about making sure brakes and tyres are up

  around their ideal working temperatures.




  F1 fans will be familiar with those sudden bursts of pace – burn-outs – from the drivers midway through their warm-up lap, and that’s another little bit of information to be

  retained. We used to be given documents telling us where we could start those burn-outs on the circuit in relation to visual cues like sponsor hoardings – all very well if you could remember

  the right sponsor!




  Another factor in the equation: fuel. Is this a circuit where our fuel consumption is critical? Or, just as importantly, someone else’s? In my latter F1 days the

  Mercedes cars were known to be fuel-sensitive: if the two Red Bulls were on the front row we sometimes debated whether we should do an unusually fast formation lap to help set their nerves on edge,

  though in practice we never did. Pull up in my grid slot, select neutral . . . and wait for the moment of truth.




  I used to get a call from pit wall when the 17th of the 22 cars had reached its grid slot. That’s when I selected first gear. Then I built the engine revs from the moment when the second

  of the five red lights on the gantry came on. Waiting for the lights to go out, the drivers feel their heart rate rise. Mine was less dramatic than many: with a resting heart rate in the low 40s

  when I was at peak fitness, it would climb to around 120 at a Grand Prix start and the maximum I ever recorded was 182. A big part of it is simple adrenaline; I could sound perfectly normal in

  conversation with my crew but my heart rate would be noticeably higher than before.




  The simple truth of a Grand Prix start is that you must react to the lights as best you can. People probably think you’re trying to get a jump on everyone else by anticipating that moment

  – but that’s a reasonably good way to get yourself penalised for a jump start. It’s hard to anticipate in any case because there is a random ‘window’ of 3–5

  seconds in which the lights will go out. You’ll be doing 100 kilometres an hour in less than three seconds and it’s risky to get ahead of yourself.




  Raw acceleration, braking, cornering – everything is on an extreme level. Even people who are used to racing at a high level in other categories struggle to totally

  calibrate with what a Formula 1 car can do. The more experience you gain, the slower things get, but the inputs – the movements the driver makes on steering-wheel, throttle and so on –

  are unbelievably fine.




  If the two Red Bulls were on the front row of the grid I would regularly lose 3 or 4 metres to Sebastian in the first couple of seconds of a race. We tried various techniques to help reaction

  time; I did a warm-up routine before getting into the car but I binned that idea because my reaction times were actually better on a lower heart-rate, not higher. That’s to do with your

  unique physical make-up. In the days when they were teammates at Ferrari, Eddie Irvine’s reaction times were markedly superior to Michael Schumacher’s, and another Ferrari favourite,

  Felipe Massa, was always very quick. But bear in mind that we are talking about a range of around only two-hundredths of a second . . .




  Part of my perceived problem with race starts in the later stages of my F1 career was not, as a lot of people probably thought, down to age, but my sensitivity to rubber! At any race start the

  driver wants to be as sensitive as he can to what happens when he drops the clutch and begins to feel the wheels move under him. It’s essential to eliminate or at least minimise wheel-spin

  – and after the change of rules on F1 tyre supply I just couldn’t ‘feel’ the Pirellis to the degree I should have done.




  So much information to process as the crucial moment approaches. Do we know the tyre temperatures? What’s the grip level from the track like? It can vary dramatically depending on whether

  a driver’s starting position is on the left or right side of the track. One will have had more rubber laid down on it during race weekend than the other as the cars

  follow the correct line, and that rubber will interact with your tyres to help ‘launch’ the car into motion.




  What’s the clutch’s ‘bite’ point, the moment at which the car comes alive? Back in my Formula Ford days it was pretty straightforward: 8000 revs, dump the clutch, bang,

  go! The technical sophistication of a Grand Prix car is light years away from that, but the reactions from the components governed by technology were never entirely predictable – a bit like

  the driver’s!




  And what about the track itself? They can be worlds apart: at Interlagos in Brazil, the start is uphill so the driver has to keep his foot on the brakes to stop rolling backwards; at Suzuka in

  Japan it’s the exact opposite as the circuit plunges immediately downhill to that thrilling first corner and the car wants to start rolling forward.




  Then all hell is let loose on your eardrums, first by the sound of your engine screaming into racing mode. The first few seconds of a race – often so crucial to what happens at the other

  end – also depend on the track. Take Monaco: the run to the first corner, Ste Dévote, is short, tense and incredibly tight; Monza is the opposite, with that long, long run down to the

  right–left chicane at the end of the straight. Getting the gear-shift points is vital: lights on the wheel and, if you have asked for it, a ‘beep’ will remind you to shift.




  A driver goes through so many emotions during the course of a race – all your sensations are heightened – so if someone goes off the track you can actually smell the cut grass before

  you go past the scene. It’s just as well, really: your eyes are not telling you all that much. The driver’s eye-line is at knee level so the sensation of speed is

  greatly increased from where he is sitting, and the trajectory can be a little hard to pick out.




  Our vision – already fairly tightly defined by our helmets – is further reduced by the high sides of the cockpit with the padded insert to protect the driver’s head in case of

  impact. Believe it or not, but when I’m in the cockpit I can’t see my own front wing. And it only gets worse when it rains.




  Your visibility then is virtually nil, so you are making micro-decisions the whole time. I can’t think of any sport, motorcycle racing excepted, where such focus is required, where your

  visibility is so severely tested at such speed. Every now and again you get a break in the level of spray, you catch a glimpse of a braking board or something else that will give you a context.




  You’re looking for hoardings or signs as markers to where exactly you might be on a 5-kilometre circuit. Your default vision has been pulled back so much closer to where you are sitting

  and believe me, pulling information from the side of the car rather than the front, working out to within 20 metres where you actually are, is mentally very draining. The racing lines change in the

  wet, too. More than ever, in these conditions, composure is what’s called for.




  Mental strength is certainly what you need when it comes to racing at a place like Monaco. But then there is no place remotely like Monaco. When I was leading there it was constant resetting,

  lap by lap: copy and paste what you did last time round, nudge your confidence level up over a two-to-three lap stretch; don’t try to grab too much round there. At Mirabeau, for example, the

  downhill run followed by the right-hander that takes you towards the hairpin, you have to fight against the feeling that you’re on the brakes too early. Jenson Button

  once asked me if I felt, as he said he did, that as the race went on the Monaco barriers actually closed in on you even more. My answer was a firm ‘No’: those barriers don’t move;

  it’s always about you, your car and the track you are on.




  Our job is to keep the car on the absolute limit and get it through the corners as quickly as possible. Every F1 corner is a tightrope, with the driver working as hard as he can to balance the

  car and get a bit more out of it – yet this animal underneath us is trying to pull our arms out of our sockets and our head off our shoulders.




  Corner entry is the crucial thing: hit the brakes at the right moment, hit them hard and ignore the deceleration forces – up to five times your own body weight – going through

  you.




  Next: turn into the corner itself. Some turn in early, others ‘go deeper’, then turn in later and more violently. Keep the car in line: don’t put too much lock on, don’t

  slide – stay on that tightrope. Get to the apex, the real change of direction, and start thinking about getting out of the corner. Keep the beast in line before you release it . . . use all

  of the road and then some on exit . . . then get on the throttle. Focus, feeling and concentration, corner after corner, lap after lap.




  In fact you can get into that trance-like state that sporting people call ‘the zone’. For a racing driver it’s about flow and rhythm, your inputs allowing the car to weave its

  way around a circuit smoothly and consistently – something you can gauge by your lap times. When I was ‘in the zone’ I found myself thinking like a

  chess-player, several moves ahead; when the car was going through Casino Square I was already mentally at Mirabeau. There was that feeling of easy repeatability: every lap would be timed to within

  a tenth of a second of the one before or after. Rhythm . . . repetition.




  It’s so hard to shut down after a Grand Prix. Your ears feel as if you’ve just got out of an aeroplane but then these things are fighter jets that stay on the ground, so in a sense

  you have. You’ve been fixed for so long at the centre of a storm of sound and vibration, your concentration levels have been phenomenally high as you process information coming at you and

  changing virtually with every metre of ground you have been covering. All you want to do is get out of there.




  What’s it like to be in the cockpit of an F1 car?




  It’s like running a marathon in shoes two sizes too small.
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  No Wings, Learning to Fly: 1976–94




  I WAS AN ADDICT BEFORE I WAS 10.




  I simply couldn’t get enough: I’d have my fix on a Sunday night, or Monday morning, and I’d keep coming back for another hit, and another one after that. It started in 1984,

  when I was just seven years old. That was the year Nigel Mansell should have won the Monaco Grand Prix for Lotus but crashed in the wet on the hill going up towards Casino Square. His accident left

  a young bloke called Ayrton Senna in with a great shout of winning his first Grand Prix in a Toleman Hart, of all things, but the race was stopped because of the rain and Alain Prost was declared

  the winner for McLaren on count-back instead. I remember it like yesterday. My drug, of course, was Formula 1.




  I was born on 27 August, 1976, midway through the memorable year when Britain’s James Hunt and Austrian Niki Lauda went head-to-head for the world title. Their season-long duel, including Lauda’s near-fatal crash in Germany, was the subject of the highly successful 2013 movie Rush. When I came on the scene the Webber clan was

  living in Queanbeyan (from the Aboriginal ‘Quinbean’, meaning ‘clear waters’) in the Southern Tablelands of New South Wales, hard up against the border with the Australian

  Capital Territory. It’s best known for producing people who excelled in sport, like cricketer Brad Haddin, squash star Heather McKay and Rugby Union great David Campese.




  Queanbeyan had been the stamping ground for the Webber family for a couple of generations by the time I arrived. My paternal grandfather, Clive, was born in Balmain in Sydney and my grandmother

  on that side, Tryphosa – Dad tells me it’s a Biblical name but he’s never come across it in his reading – was from Cessnock in the Hunter region of New South Wales. Both of

  them moved to the Queanbeyan area early in life, before they knew each other. They married in Queanbeyan in 1941. My dad, Alan, came along in 1947 and he has one sister, Gwen.




  Clive was originally a wood merchant, back in the days when there was good business to be done delivering firewood. He delivered wood to Hotel Currajong, where then Prime Minister Ben Chifley

  spent a lot of time, and also supplied wood to Parliament House. When war broke out Clive went down to Sydney to enlist but was sent home when they realised they needed to hang on to the bloke who

  delivered wood to such important addresses. He continued as a wood carter until 1955, when he bought what became the family business, Bridge Motors, a Leyland dealership with two petrol bowsers on

  the footpath on the main street of Queanbeyan.




  My dad and mum met in the early sixties. My mum, Diane, was from a well-known local family, the Blewitts. Her dad, David George Blewitt – ‘DG’ for short

  – and her mum, Marie, were married in 1947, but Marie died of cancer at the age of 48 so my sister Leanne and I never knew her. Dad tells me Marie was a wonderful lady: they got along

  famously and she worked for him at one stage. DG had 2000 acres which my mother’s sister Pam still owns and runs. Mum was at school with Dad’s sister and often used to spend time at

  their home. Mum likes to say she couldn’t stand Dad at first, but he insists that was only because he used to like watching the ABC, all the old English comedy shows he still enjoys, and she

  thought he was being a bit of a smartie-bum, as he puts it. She must have got over that because they started going out in 1968 and were married in 1971, on Dad’s 24th birthday. As he likes to

  say, he ‘Blewitt’ when he married her! My sister, Leanne, came along in 1974 and in 1976 I followed. I share the same birthday with cricketer Sir Donald Bradman and, coincidentally,

  with two Grand Prix drivers from the not-so-distant past, Derek Warwick and Gerhard Berger.




  Dad built our family home in Irene Avenue, an awesome place that for me was filled with good memories. I went to Isabella Street Primary and then Karabar High, both close to home. I represented

  the school in athletics and Rugby League, I played Aussie Rules and I was quite keen on cricket and swimming. I was a jack of all trades and legend of none! Perhaps surprisingly it was my mum who

  encouraged me to get involved in as many different sports as I could. ‘Having a go’ was how she put it, and I was only too happy to take her advice.




  Beyond the normal schoolboy activities, Dad was all over motor sport. As a youngster he used to hitchhike to Warwick Farm, which was then a popular Sydney motor-racing

  venue. Naturally, with Clive running a mechanical repairs business, there were always motorbikes around so it’s no surprise that I grew up with an interest in motor sport myself.




  I often think of my grandfather Clive. He was a really special person – incredibly popular, always had a smile on his face, a hell of a man for a practical joke. He was unique and

  definitely important to what I’ve stood for, the legacy left to his own son and to me. Dad’s pretty similar. He likes to say every day is a birthday for him, he doesn’t want to

  have any enemies, just wants to have a good time. Clivey was a legend and many of Dad’s traits – and some of mine as well – have come from him.




  Mum’s dad, DG, loved us to bits, but he was a farmer and always busy. I remember him worrying incessantly about me either injuring myself on the motorbike at the farm or starting

  bushfires. Over the years I did both, so perhaps he had every reason to be worried! It’s fair to say, too, that I was never going to be a farmer. I was always at the workshop tinkering away

  with Clive. The business grew, so they moved it out of town, and Dad took it on from there.




  It wasn’t the showiest joint around but it was always a popular spot – the same guys were always around the place. Opposite our house in Irene Avenue in Mark Place lived a family

  called the Zardos. Both their lads used to work at Dad’s petrol station and Gino Zardo went on to become one of the best photographers in New York. He calls me ‘Sparky’ whenever I

  see him, and that’s all down to Clive. When I was born Clive said, ‘He’s a little Champion spark plug!’ and the name just stuck.




  Clive died of cancer at 78 when I was 15. The day he died, I was staying with one of my best mates, Peter Woods, and his mum came down and said, ‘Your granddad passed away.’ I was a

  mess. Seeing what he’d had to go through for the past three years of his illness had been extremely painful for our family. Clive hadn’t even seen me go-karting, which I started when I

  was 13. I would love for all my grandparents to have seen what I’ve achieved, for Mum and Dad’s sake. You always want those sorts of relationships to go on forever, but of course they

  can’t. Dad’s a big, solid man, as you would expect an ex-Rugby player to be, whereas Clive was like me, lean and tall. Mum often says in some of the photos when he was young he’s

  just a dead ringer for me when I was that age. Tryphosa died around the time of the first Melbourne Grand Prix in 1996. I remember Dad getting the phone call just as we were leaving the hotel and

  being totally blown away by how strong he was. I think of them often and when I’ve raced, although they never saw me turn a wheel, they’ve always been with me. Cancer and its impact on

  so many lives means something specific and very painful to me.




  Queanbeyan wasn’t a big town by any stretch of the imagination, but Leanne and I quickly built our own separate group of friends as we were growing up. My earliest memories of Leanne are

  of being on the farm on our motorbikes and tailing lambs. She was always into animals and had a far more natural instinct for the farm than I ever did. We had massive family times together on the

  farm in the evenings, my grandfather DG, Aunty Pam, Uncle Nigel and their two boys, Adam and Johnny, Mum, Dad, Leanne and me. There were lots of summer holidays to Mollymook on

  the New South Wales south coast where Dad’s sister Gwen had a holiday home. Leanne and I would both take a couple of friends so there were always lots of kids running amok or hitting the

  surf.




  In school term Leanne and I were always on a different program. I was always late to bed and late to school, she was the complete opposite. Mum used to take us both to the Queanbeyan swimming

  club on Wednesday nights and I remember how freezing cold it was. Leanne and I did a bit of recreational stuff together but that stopped when racing took over.




  Dad had played Rugby Union through school and on weekends until he was in his thirties. He was pretty good, too: he represented New South Wales as a junior, played first grade in the local

  competition and he likes to boast that he played for Queanbeyan alongside Australian great David Campese in 1981.




  Thanks to Mum and Dad, sport certainly played a large part in my own upbringing. Dad still remembers very fondly the day I was picked above my age group for a Rugby League final: I scored two

  intercepted tries and helped us win the local shield. I played full-forward in Aussie Rules and kicked quite a few goals, and I had a crack at tennis as well. I wasn’t a gun at any of it, but

  the mentality in the Webber household was to have a crack.




  Queanbeyan was a small enough town with plenty of competitive families who loved sport. There was always that natural sort of comparison going on. ‘Were you in the newspaper?’ was a

  frequent question among the people I grew up with. But it was always very friendly: it wasn’t a contest between parents as to whose son had done what, it was always just

  a question of wanting to do well, because that’s what we were encouraged to do.




  I did enjoy sport, and I’m pretty sure that’s where my competitive nature grew. Whether it was a football match or a computer game, I always liked to win. My only problem was that I

  wouldn’t put in the practice and the discipline to improve. It wasn’t till I was much older that my focus sharpened and I could see the benefits of applying myself.




  I got a privileged insight into the need for discipline and dedication in sport at a pretty early age. When I was 13 I ‘worked’ for a year as a ball-boy for the Canberra Raiders, a

  little job that came about because Dad knew the Raiders’ Under-21 coach, Mick Doyle. Ball-boy for Mal Meninga and those blokes for a year – what an opportunity! Ten dollars a game was

  big bucks in those days, and I even travelled to all the away games, which meant hotel rooms in places as far afield as Brisbane. Phenomenal experience for a kid in his early teens!




  To see those guys play, to hear the legendary coach Tim Sheens firing them up – I didn’t fully realise how lucky I was to have that experience. At that stage I simply didn’t

  understand how important motivation was. Those players did whatever it took to get them out on the paddock week in, week out, because that’s what competing and winning is all about: turning

  up and having a real go.




  Sport apart, school and I didn’t really connect. Depending on which of my teachers you asked, they would tell you: ‘Mark Webber? He was loud . . . he was popular . . . he was articulate . . . he was a bit arrogant . . . he was lazy and unmotivated . . . he drove his car like a maniac!’




  Most of those descriptions were true, I suppose, but the negative stuff didn’t come about because I didn’t like being at school in the first place. Far from it: I loved school, I

  rarely missed a day. But I was mischievous and disruptive in the classroom, no question about it. It used to frustrate Mum quite a lot and she threatened me with boarding school on a number of

  occasions. Dad didn’t help matters because if the school hauled him and Mum in when I was in trouble he’d laugh when he heard what I’d been getting up to. He even went so far as

  to tell them that he wished he had thought up some of my pranks when he was at school. Actually he had: one of them was stuffing potatoes up the exhaust pipes of the teachers’ cars and he

  confessed he had done that in his own youth. On another memorable occasion I was in an agriculture class and I buried all the shovels. Next day the teacher couldn’t find them; I got a

  telephone call and told them they were right there beneath their feet!




  My last year at school was when I had the biggest fun I’ve had in my life, because I got my driving licence. I was never one for studying but when there was something I was interested in,

  like getting my licence, it seemed to come more easily. I got the book you needed to study to go for your licence one day and passed it the next! I had just one lesson from a friend of Dad’s

  who ran a driving school, but Dad had let me sit on his lap when I was eight or so on the way out to the farm, and I’d had plenty of chances to drive tractors and other farm vehicles before I

  was 10, so the licence was never a problem. My first car was a 1969 Toyota Corona, two on the tree, $500, and you can imagine the stuff we got up to.




  At school lunchtimes I would load up the car with mates and head for the nearby rally stages or fire trails. Sometimes I’d go and recce them on my own then put the wind up my passengers

  later by spearing off the tarmac road straight onto dirt tracks, safe in the knowledge that I knew exactly what I was doing. They weren’t massively impressed! Nor was the teacher who hopped

  in with me one day to go and buy some ice. He said later I had two speeds, Fast and Stop, and swore he would never get in a car with me again.




  On our muck-up day – the final day of Year 12 when the students virtually take over the school – the boys filmed an on-board lap of me driving around Queanbeyan which involved

  several near-misses with parked cars and plenty of handbrake turns. My trademark move was to stop at pedestrian crossings with the handbrake; somehow I never managed to convince Dad that the square

  rear tyres with wire hanging out were a standard tyre defect!




  Speaking of tyres, all four of mine were let down one day – by one of my teachers. Mr Walker taught science and I was never in any of his classes, but he clearly took exception to the fact

  that I used to park in the staff car park. Well, it was convenient – much closer to roll-call. Once we got to the bottom of it, some mates and I went round to his house one night about a week

  later to get a bit of our own back. Nothing serious: just some flour and eggs, or maybe a couple of those potatoes stuffed up the exhaust pipe. That plan had to be abandoned – Mr Walker was

  sitting in his car even though it was 10.30 at night!




  I also used my Toyota to deliver pizzas around the Queanbeyan and Canberra area. I soon found out there was a skill to learning house names and numbers and finding flats and

  units, after countless episodes of knocking on doors with a pizza in hand only to be told, ‘Nah mate, you’ve got the wrong house.’ Delivering to parties was always the worst:

  I’d always get the piss taken out of me in my horrendous uniform with a little leather pouch which I would rifle through trying to give back the right change.




  Dad says now that he was worried I might turn out a bit of a devil, but every now and again I would knuckle down to school work. The most important thing for me was to have a relationship with

  the teacher. If there was a bit of friction between us, that meant I never had the motivation to pay attention. But a few teachers along the way worked out how I ticked, things clicked and I made a

  half-decent stab at their subjects. A lot of the people I knew did well at Karabar High, but I used it mainly for socialising, playing sport and having meals at the canteen!




  *




  When my love of Formula 1 emerged Dad was as happy as a sand-boy. Australia had started getting television coverage of Grand Prix racing in the aftermath of Alan Jones’s

  World Championship year in 1980, although races weren’t always shown as they happened because of the time difference, and I think Dad was delighted that I had caught the bug. He was

  particularly impressed by Jack Brabham, long before ‘Black Jack’, as he was later known, became the first knight of motor racing. Jack had made a name for himself on speedway circuits

  that weren’t all that far from where we lived. His was certainly the biggest name in the Webber household, and my story as a racing driver really begins with how

  inspirational Jack was both to Dad and then to me.




  Dad was a huge open-wheeler fan. He loved going to watch Jackie Stewart and other international drivers racing at Warwick Farm against our local heroes in the Tasman Series. Touring cars, which

  are so popular in Australia, just never cut it as far as we were concerned – it was the Indianapolis 500 and Formula 1 for us! The best drivers in the world were in single-seaters and Dad

  loved the precision and accuracy of that kind of racing. I guess most young boys follow what their dads love, and that’s what I did.




  Mum could hardly get me off to school on Monday mornings after a Grand Prix; I’d tape every race, watch it ‘live’, then watch it again when I got home from school. Mum and Dad

  used to have friends round, parents of other kids I knew and while they sat there I’d be watching a Grand Prix for probably the eighth or ninth time, the same race over and over again, with a

  bowl of my favourite ice-cream.




  The Australian Grand Prix was staged in Adelaide starting in November 1985, when I was nine years old. It was televised by Channel 9 in those days. I needed eight video tapes just for that one

  race weekend alone! It was always the final race of the season, so after Adelaide I’d be in mourning for four months before F1 came round again, the first race usually broadcast from Brazil,

  to see the new drivers in their different helmets, and all the different teams. It was just brilliant, I loved it. Dad and I couldn’t wait for each new season to start.




  The first year Dad took me to the Grand Prix was 1987, when I was 11. The drive took us 14 hours and I got the sulks when Alain Prost, who was my hero in those days, retired

  after 53 laps with a brake disc failure. At that stage Alain had won two of his eventual four World Championships; he had also recently overtaken Jackie Stewart’s long-standing record of 27

  Grand Prix victories.




  How could I possibly have dreamt that 25 years later Alain Prost and a kid from Queanbeyan would go cycling together on one of the most famous stages of the Tour de France and be on first-name

  terms?




  But I will never forget the first impression these cars made on me in Adelaide. Our seats were on the front straight; Martin Brundle, now a popular television analyst of the sport, was first

  round in his Zakspeed and I nearly lost my breakfast! It went past us so fast I just couldn’t believe there was a driver at the wheel. To me, these guys were absolutely bloody awesome –

  I even climbed trees trying to get a better view. That’s when F1 started to become religious for me.




  But for all the passion I put into it, I never thought for a moment at that stage that I would get any closer to Formula 1 than hanging off a tree in Adelaide to watch those great names rip past

  me. These drivers were a million miles away from the kind of racing I had first been exposed to, which revolved around dirt-bikes, sprint cars – brilliant little rockets designed for

  high-speed racing on short oval tracks – and midget cars.




  For several years, starting when I was just eight and going through to my early teens, Dad took me to our nearest speedway at Tralee, in the Queanbeyan suburbs, where I perched on his shoulders

  to watch the exploits of local blokes like George Tatnell and Garry Rush, a 10-time national sprint car champion. Some of the big American names came over as well. I remember

  Dad being blown away by seeing Johnny Rutherford, the multiple Indianapolis 500 winner from Texas who was nicknamed ‘Lone Star JR’, out here in a sprint car and behaving as if he was

  just a normal bloke.




  A particular favourite of ours was another American called Steve Kinser. It was mesmerising to watch him – he seemed to be able to put his car wherever he liked, he could pass anywhere at

  all. Dad had never raced but he was what you would call a petrol-head and I was delighted to go along with him. But even later, when the idea of racing in my own right first began to take hold in

  my mind, the question remained: ‘How the f#*k are you going to get to F1, coming from Queanbeyan?’ It was a legitimate enough question. You can count the number of Australians

  who have achieved anything significant in Formula 1 on the fingers of one hand. When I was a boy F1 was in the air because of Alan Jones, and before that because of Jack Brabham, but as far as we

  were concerned it was a game for Europeans, Americans and Brazilians, not for people like us.




  *




  I’d been riding motorbikes since I was a little tacker of about four or five when I had the run of DG’s farm at weekends. Dad would set up little tracks for me and

  I’d race around for hours on end on my Pee Wee 50. One day I had a massive shunt which knocked the stuffing out of me. I would have been eight at the time and I was covered in blood and black

  and blue all over. Dad wasn’t too keen to take me back to the farmhouse for fear of incurring the wrath of Disey – my mum. Instead he drove me straight home to Queanbeyan and cleaned me up the best he could. I also had a decent stack with my auntie Pam: I was sitting on the tank, grabbed full throttle and if I remember rightly the two of us

  cleaned up a fence.




  Dad had the Yamaha dealership in Queanbeyan for 16 years, but he never encouraged me to get into bikes in a serious way. He once sold a road bike to a fellow who was killed on it a few months

  later. Dad had felt misgivings about the sale at the time and he took it badly – he felt very sorry for the family. He and I never did anything competitive with bikes, but Bridge Motors did

  have a little team in motocross and speedway. Dad used to say those kids would ride over the top of each other to win, never mind what the other competitors might do!




  But it wasn’t until I got to 12 or 13 that I put my foot on the first rung of the motor-racing ladder. One of my schoolmates’ father was doing some racing of his own in midgets, but

  he also had a go-kart and I was pretty keen to have a go at that. Dad reminded me that the whole Webber family had had a crack at go-karting one time at a fun park up in Surfers Paradise. He

  wasn’t particularly impressed by my skills on that occasion!




  But as most motor-racing people will tell you, karting is the perfect way for a budding racing driver to get started. You can drive them as young as seven, or even earlier, and it was through

  karting that some of F1’s biggest names – men like Ayrton Senna and Michael Schumacher – were introduced to the sport they would eventually dominate.




  Karting trains the young driver in precision, car control, basic setting-up of the kart, and the hustle and bustle of racing wheel-to-wheel. I will admit I found it quite intimidating. Those things are pretty quick when you’re only 13 and they don’t have bodywork to protect you – but once you get the hang of it and relax, it’s

  brilliant.




  To help me develop my fledgling skills, before delivering pizzas to the wrong addresses I worked at the local indoor go-kart centre, where Mum or Dad had to come and get me, often at two or

  three in the morning – and I had school the next day. The other boys and I used to finish up there at midnight, then we’d drive the karts for two hours ourselves. There would only be

  three or four of us but we’d switch the tyre barriers around to make much more advanced tracks than the punters would use. We also used fire extinguishers to wet certain corners on the

  braking points, the apexes or exits, really mixing up our skill sets and our feel for grip from the tyres.




  Dare I say it, there were even nights when we’d take the karts out onto the road! The centre was on an industrial estate and at two in the morning it was a very quiet place. The only other

  traffic we might see would be the cars visiting the nearby red-light district!




  I guess the karting bug bit me, but at first I was still doing my ball-boy duties for the Raiders and I couldn’t attend all the meetings. By the time I was 15 Dad had bought me a

  second-hand kart, which we used in 1990 and 1991. On the karting scene there was a meeting roughly once a month out at the Canberra Go-Kart Club.




  There were six meetings in 1991, the year in which I turned 15, and there would be four heats at each. Dad didn’t actually come to my early races! He was busy building the new service

  station so I went with my schoolmate Matthew Hinton and John, his dad.




  In 1990–91 in that second-hand kart we were doing pretty well at meetings in and around Canberra. Then Andy Lawson, who ran the Queanbeyan Kart Centre, custom-built a

  frame to fit me. Andy was a plant engineer but Dad reckons he could easily have made a living as a race-car engineer in Formula 1. He fabricated his own go-karts, did all the engine preparation and

  he was able to coax the last ounce of power out of them. Dad insists we owe a great debt to Andy, one of those brilliant backyard engineering blokes that Australia and New Zealand seem to produce

  who can put something in the lathe and 10 minutes later the component is made. Dad had known of him for quite a while without getting to know him well. Andy also prepared karts for a family called

  the Dukes. The boy, Ryan, had already won an Australian title; Dad thought he could learn from his father, Ray, and I certainly learned quickly from Ryan. They were what Dad likes to call

  ‘decent people’: no helmet-throwing, no tantrums, just good, down-to-earth sporting types, the kind of people he was more than happy to be associated with.




  Around this time Dad made a business decision that had a big impact on both our lives. ‘I never forced Mark into racing,’ he will tell you. ‘He just wanted to do it, he had a

  natural aptitude for it and he was able to run at the front pretty quickly. It’s also fair to say that the racing was a means to a short-term end: it allowed me to spend more time with Mark

  than I had been doing. I invested long hours in Bridge Motors, time that took me away from family life, so I decided to lease the service station to Caltex. It was probably the best goal I ever

  kicked because it gave me two things: money, as it left us comfortably off, and that even more precious commodity, time. It allowed me and Mark to go racing together –

  and it gave him a privilege I never enjoyed because he was given Fridays off school to travel with me to his next race meeting!’




  Through ’93 we kept the Lawson kart and also ran a Clubman with a bigger, more powerful engine. Dad decided we should try our hand in places like Melbourne and Sydney – he loved to

  see me winning all those races close to home but he had the bigger picture in mind and he felt he needed to throw me in at the deep end. The idea was for me to learn, to improve my racecraft, and

  competing at Oran Park or down at Corio in Geelong was a good way to do it.




  I won quite a few races and the 1993 NSW Junior National Heavy title. I wasn’t the right size or weight for karting; I wasn’t an absolute gun but I probably could have done better if

  Dad had put in the resources others were putting in. On the other hand he was probably aiming a bit higher already.




  *




  Halfway through 1993 a well-known face in Australian motor-racing circles, ‘Peewee’ Siddle, ran a Formula Ford trials day at Oran Park. Greg, to give him his real

  name, was the Australian importer, in partnership with Steve Knott, of the famous and internationally successful Van Diemen race-car brand from the UK. For many decades, Formula Ford was the

  worldwide entry-level category for aspiring racing drivers. It kicked off in the UK in 1967 and soon spread through Europe and across to the States. It reached Australia in 1970.




  The idea behind Formula Ford was to provide a basic single-seater car, each with the same engine – they started with Ford Cortina GT power units – and without

  wings in order to keep the design as simple as possible. The essence of Formula Ford is learning how to handle yourself in ‘traffic’, as we call it, because the lack of wings means the

  cars can run in close formation and the racing is often spectacular, wheel-to-wheel stuff.




  The day at Oran Park cost $5000. Ten drivers from Canberra and Queanbeyan – or their families – tipped in $500 each. They made two cars available, one set up for smaller drivers, the

  other for us taller blokes. I had a go in both and at the end of the day I was 1.6 seconds quicker than anybody else. That was the first time I’d driven a Formula Ford and I thought they were

  shit-boxes compared to the sharpness and agility of a go-kart!




  But I enjoyed being in a car with a gearbox, sliding it around, and what I really liked was being on a big track – checking the kerbs, using big lines, coming right out wide through the

  corners and nearly touching those walls at Oran Park.




  Dad reckons that day was when the penny dropped: ‘Over a second and a half – that’s light years in motor-racing terms. I couldn’t get my head around the fact that he was

  going so well, but I figured it couldn’t all be down to the engine because everybody had the same one. I thought, “Maybe he has got some ability after all.” ’ As for

  me, I was still very young and I believed Formula Vee, an open-wheeler class a step below Formula Ford, was as far as I was ever going to go. Dad was thinking about the path ahead: Formula Ford, on

  to Formula 3 – the first acquaintance with cars with wings and aerodynamic characteristics – then on to one of several possible stepping-stones to the pinnacle of

  Formula 1. But that never crossed my mind.




  Through Peewee (who probably knew more about my ability than Dad did, given his long experience in motor racing) we learned that Craig Lowndes’s 1993 Australian Formula Ford

  Championship-winning car was available. Dad had a careful look at it, thought it had been pretty well maintained and we bought it, but we did struggle a bit with it in our first year. It was Andy

  Lawson who set the car up; he’d never worked on a Formula Ford and it was a hard first year for us, especially as we jumped straight into the national series. I didn’t really have much

  of a clue about setting a race car up. I was still at school; some of my mates and I used to play computer games, but of course they were of limited use when it came to the real thing and there

  wasn’t a lot of spare time to go and learn on-track rather than on-screen. It’s fair to say that in year one in Formula Ford my feedback to my team was useless, and it hadn’t

  improved a lot by the time we went into our second season either.




  That first year Dad and I put about 100,000 kilometres on the old Landcruiser as we criss-crossed this huge country on our way to and from race meetings. The trip from home to Adelaide in South

  Australia, across the endless Nullarbor Plain to Wanneroo in Western Australia and back to Queanbeyan was 10,000 kilometres on its own.




  The 1994 Australian Formula Ford Championship consisted of eight rounds, crammed into a six-month schedule from February to July. Our three-man team – Michael Foreman, my go-kart buddy and

  mechanic, Andy Lawson, my engineer, and me, the driver – had absolutely no experience of the category so we didn’t set the world on fire that first year, but we

  were up there some of the time: third at Phillip Island was my best result and 30 points meant I finished 14th overall.




  I also got the chance to compete on the track where my addiction to racing had begun. We went to Adelaide to take part in the non-championship Formula Ford races on the undercard at the

  Australian Grand Prix. Before we set out I had a monster shunt in the final championship round at Oran Park. I lost control at the dog-leg at the bottom end of the circuit, got on the grass, hit

  the wall and destroyed the car. It was my first big crash and it hurt! It was a relatively small injury, but a massive wake-up call. Dad had to spend money, and Andy had to spend so much time

  putting everything back together as best he could – and I spent plenty of cold winter nights in the workshop helping him and Michael to rebuild the car. I remember thinking that this could be

  the end of the road for me; the shunt had dented my confidence and serious doubts had set in: was I cut out for the job of being a racing driver?




  Earlier that year the death of three-time Formula 1 World Champion Ayrton Senna in the San Marino Grand Prix had also weighed on me. After watching that Imola race I went to bed expecting that

  Senna would be okay. When Mum woke me with the terrible news I cried into my cornflakes. Dad sat at the other end of the house because he didn’t want to watch the news reports confirming

  Senna’s death with me. I didn’t go to school that day; Dad granted me a rare day off. Next day even friends who didn’t follow motor racing tip-toed around me because even they

  knew what had happened and what it meant to me. It was a nightmare: Ayrton Senna wasn’t supposed to be killed in a racing car, he was invincible. I was shattered.




  But ultimately neither Senna’s death nor my own Oran Park mishap affected my determination to keep racing. F1 and Ayrton Senna were a long way away from where I was, after all. But by the

  time we went to Adelaide we were really at the Last Chance Saloon. If we got blown away in these races, with no results to speak of and no cash, we would probably have to pull the pin on the whole

  thing. But I fell in love with the street track straightaway, and we were quick the whole weekend.




  So much so that we were on the front row alongside that year’s champion, Steven Richards – and then the bloody battery failed. Once I got going I drove through the whole field on the

  formation lap to take up my position, which you are not supposed to do. The stewards black-flagged me – the sign that a driver has been disqualified. I was livid, but all I could do was

  complete the first part of the race and then dutifully pull in. We returned to Queanbeyan spitting chips, but happy that our first crack at Adelaide had gone well despite that final

  disappointment.




  





  
2




  Wingless Wonders: 1995–96




  THE END OF 1994 WAS A CROSSROADS FOR DAD. HE HAD TO decide whether to put up the

  money for us to go round again or not. In that first year he had funded me himself and he couldn’t commit to another year without finding some sponsorship support and seeing some results.




  At the first round of the 1994 Australian Formula Ford Championship at Amaroo Park in Sydney in February, everyone – Dad and me included – was being introduced to the

  category’s new media and PR officer.




  I remember saying to her, ‘You must be important, then!’




  Little did I realise just how important Ann Neal was going to become, not only in my racing career, but in my life. She thought I was a bit of a smart-arse when we first met. ‘But I liked

  how bold and cheeky he was,’ she says, ‘and how mature he seemed. When I asked someone how old he was, I was shocked when they said 17 – he was confident

  beyond his years.’




  Ann was born in England; she got into motor-sport journalism by writing for a magazine and local newspapers about oval racing. She took a passing interest in the exploits of Derek Warwick, whom

  she’d seen in Superstox racing on the ovals and who became one of the few drivers to graduate from there to car racing. When Ann met Derek at a function years later she was introduced to his

  brother Paul, who was 10 at the time. Paul wanted to emulate his big brother and when he moved up to Formula Ford, she followed, handling his press and PR work. One thing led to another: she was

  introduced to Mike Thompson, the founder of Quest Formula Ford cars, who asked her to look after the media for a young driver, Johnny Herbert, in 1986. Johnny had just won the prestigious Formula

  Ford Festival.




  Ann married Australian Rod Barrett in November ’87. He had gone to the UK to seek his own fame and fortune as a saloon-car driver and was working at the famous Jim Russell School for

  up-and-coming racing drivers. Rod lived at Carlton House in Attleborough in Norfolk, a bed-and-breakfast that was home away from home for many young international racing drivers. Every young Aussie

  was beating a path to their door at that time too, guys like Paul Stokell, Russell Ingall – they always had a nucleus of Australians around them. After they married they bought a house in

  Kent and Rod became Media Director at Brands Hatch. Ann was providing copy for all the Brands Hatch programs, which meant four race circuits in the group as a whole, and was part of the press team

  at the British Grand Prix when it was staged at Brands. Even so, she wasn’t a big F1 fan, preferring grassroots racing.




  Ann’s next position was with a public relations company where she looked after the motor-sport interests of the big oil firm Duckhams. She also worked on behalf of Ford and one of their

  projects was Formula Ford. ‘By 1989,’ she says, ‘the formula was failing to attract young drivers because there were so many other forms of racing springing up which had better

  prize funds and offered more opportunities. I produced a report for Ford which they took on board; they got serious about it and I took over the media/PR role on their behalf in 1991.’




  That was the good news.




  ‘The unbearably bad news,’ Ann recalls, ‘was that ’91 was also the year when Paul Warwick lost his life in a big accident at Oulton Park, a famous racing circuit up in

  Cheshire in England’s north-west. I was at Cadwell Park that day on Formula Ford duty – six months pregnant with my son Luke – and wasn’t able to attend Paul’s race,

  as I often did. A week later Rod rolled a production saloon at Brands Hatch and we decided we didn’t want any more to do with motor racing.’




  Rod couldn’t get out of his contract so Ann worked the ’92 season and they emigrated to Australia after her last day, which was that year’s Formula Ford Festival. It was won by

  the young Danish driver Jan Magnussen, whose manager called Ann the next day to ask if she would be interested in handling Jan’s media! She told him she was on a plane out of the UK –

  and those who follow F1 will recall that Jan’s son Kevin made his F1 debut for McLaren in 2014 at Albert Park and finished on the podium. A familiar name through my own

  F1 career has been Jenson Button; at that same stage Ann was contacted by John Button, Jenson’s father, about playing the same media role for his son.




  After six months Rod was going back to his old employer, Coca-Cola, as State Manager. The trouble was that the state in question was Western Australia, which Ann found too remote. Luke was

  coming up to his first birthday and they knew no one. Then Coke took Rod to Sydney, and hey presto, work opportunities began to open up for her. She hadn’t lost the motor-racing bug despite

  Paul’s death; she accepted an offer to become press and PR coordinator for the Australian Formula Ford Championship. She also began working for Wayne Gardner’s new V8 touring car team

  in Sydney’s western suburbs, but no sooner had they started settling in Sydney than Coca-Cola offered Rod a job in Malaysia, which was too good for him to refuse.




  Looking back, Ann says, ‘I didn’t want to give up my career yet again. I hadn’t migrated to Australia to end up living in Kuala Lumpur. We tried to keep the relationship alive

  by commuting back and forth but it was never going to work out and I was also getting into my stride with my work, which I loved. Rod and I separated and ultimately divorced; it was difficult for a

  while but we’ve been good friends for years now and Rod even joined Mark and me at some Grands Prix.’




  Ann remembers our first meeting and my opening remark about her being so important. She can even remember what I was wearing – a stripey green and red top, one of those United Colors of

  Benetton things – so that was pretty prophetic, as things turned out! After that first meeting we kept in touch. My family sometimes met up with Ann and Luke for weekend

  get-togethers, and I ensured she got her motor-sport fixes by dragging all my old F1 tapes out. By way of revenge she would bring down all her British Formula Ford tapes for me.




  In those early days Ann and Luke hadn’t been in Australia for very long. Luke was an only child with no cousins or anyone remotely close to his age in Australia, so it was a great

  experience for him to see life in rural Australia, particularly on the family farm, and to meet everyone – it was a family lifestyle he didn’t have. Something a lot of kids in Australia

  would take for granted, no doubt, but Luke had been parachuted into life Down Under and it was great that we were able to show him a snapshot of what we were all about.




  Late in 1994 Dad asked Ann if she could help us find some sponsorship. It wasn’t the kind of work she enjoyed most, but she had been keeping an eye on this family trying to find their way

  in the big wide world of motor racing and she must have seen something she liked, because eventually she agreed.




  ‘When I met Mark it struck me that maybe this was the driver I could try and manage,’ she says. ‘That was the challenge for me: having worked for Johnny Herbert’s

  management as he made his way up from Formula Ford to F1, I wanted to see if I could step up to the plate. When I got to know Mark I could see we had a lot in common and we both had a burning

  desire to be successful. One October day at Bathurst, where we had gone to watch the “Great Race”, he said, “I want to do something with my life.” He already knew he

  didn’t want to spend his whole life in Queanbeyan – he wanted something more and he was hungry, which stuck in my mind. I don’t think he particularly knew

  what he wanted out of life and he certainly didn’t know how to carve out a career in motor sport, but the fact he wanted something gave me a great foundation to work with.’




  *




  By this stage both my parents were putting a bit of heat on me. Mum insisted that I finish my Higher School Certificate, which I did, although my results might not have been

  what she was hoping for. In Dad’s eyes getting results on track was the priority if I was to keep doing what I really wanted to do. Otherwise I would have had to get a ‘real’ job,

  and I knew how fortunate I was – I could work with Dad, I had that safety net and I think inside I believed I would use it at some stage.




  But I was keen by now to make racing my focus, and that meant taking the first major step on my journey: getting out of Queanbeyan. So I did something that horrified Disey: I went to live in

  Sydney. We’d met Spencer Martin in 1994 when his son Matt was racing with me in Formula Ford. When we went to that first Amaroo Park meeting Dad and I were driving in to the circuit when he

  spotted Spencer and said to me, ‘Mark, I’ll tell you a bit about this fellow in a minute but right now we’re going to pitch camp alongside him.’




  He was well aware of Spencer’s background and thought he was one of the best drivers Australia had produced. Spencer had won the Gold Star as Australia’s outstanding racing driver in

  1966 and 1967, he had taken a break from the track to marry and start a family, and then returned to excel in Historic racing and Porsches. Among other claims to fame, Spencer

  drove for well-known Australian racing identity David McKay’s Scuderia Veloce team, worked as a mechanic to Graham Hill in the Tasman Series, and generally knew everything there was to know

  about starting a career as a racing driver. Dad and Spencer hit it off from the start. He felt it was like our relationship with the Dukes family: good people, and in the end we are still great

  friends to this day. ‘Another good decision by old Al!’ as Dad likes to remind me. When I moved to Sydney, it was the Martin family who took me in and I stayed with them up until the

  time I first travelled to the UK late in 1995 to go and see the Formula Ford Festival.




  I earned my keep as a driving instructor at the Oran Park circuit. Meanwhile Ann and I put together six sponsorship proposals, though we didn’t have a huge amount to put into the document

  because I hadn’t achieved much in 1994. But she put me in a professional studio to get some decent shots done and we had the proposals ready just before Christmas. It had to be done then

  because by the time everybody straggled back to work in February it would be far too late.




  One of the proposals landed on the desk of Bob Copp at Yellow Pages. He called us up straightaway. So Ann flew down to Melbourne, where Bob was based, the following week – and she flew

  solo because my services weren’t required at that stage.




  That’s how Ann started working with us. As a woman working in a very male-dominated industry in Australia I think Ann has always felt she had to make her point a bit harder or more

  strongly to be taken seriously, something she never had to do back in the UK. But when she secured that Yellow Pages sponsorship she had something she was in charge of. She

  took ownership of it, and it was down to her – and me – to show Yellow Pages we could make it work.




  Bob Copp got it from the start: he understood the need to rejuvenate the company image for the internet era. He knew that a third and more of the Yellow Pages client base was in the automotive

  business sector, they had already had some involvement at Bathurst and he knew the way forward wasn’t with touring cars, so Ann’s proposal had turned up just at the right time. I had

  youth on my side, while innovation and technology – key parts of the Yellow Pages profile – were crucial ingredients of single-seater racing. Bob Copp was looking for emerging talent;

  Ann was fervently hoping that I was it.




  For that second Formula Ford year I ran a new car in full Yellow Pages livery, which looked great. For the small Team Webber, as we began to call ourselves, it was great, and the start of

  a terrific relationship with the company.




  When I tell you I scored 158 points and finished fourth overall that year – 128 points better than in 1994 – you can see how much work went into getting there. But while fourth was a

  fair improvement from my first campaign, it also shows that I simply wasn’t consistent enough. It was the same old story: we had no set-up on the car at all. We had started out working with a

  bloke who was recommended to Dad by Peewee. But at our first meeting at Sandown in Melbourne in early February 1995, things went wrong from the start. We couldn’t even get out for the warm-up

  at the first of the two races there because the car was too low! That same afternoon Dad was on the phone to Peewee again.




  Despite all the drama I kick-started the year with a pretty good win in the first Sandown race. I took the lead on the opening lap in tricky wet conditions and increased it

  all the way to beat Jason Bright and Monaghan by a country mile. The second race at that meeting was wet as well, but I was spun round by someone on the second lap; I fought my way back up to

  second but then had an even worse spin and that was that. Still, Dad was reassured by my efforts. Peewee came back to him with an alternative and the next name to crop up belonged to Harry

  Galloway.




  Harry was one of the first men in Australia to grasp the importance of aerodynamics when it came to racing cars. Like Andy Lawson he was a brilliant fabricator, although he hadn’t worked

  for a little operation like ours. We enjoyed a terrific relationship with Harry and he was a big help as things started to pick up out on the track.




  Phillip Island was another wet race – and I used to love it when it rained! I couldn’t believe the lines other drivers would use, and I’m talking about the big guns. You would

  cruise up on some of the guys you were fighting with and they just weren’t being creative, they didn’t have the trust in the car in those conditions. The heavier the rain, the less the

  visibility, the more I enjoyed it. It was so heavy at Phillip Island that they cancelled the Supercars – but they put the Formula Fords out there! We had a misfire in qualifying so I started

  from eighth and I was leading after the first lap. Mind you, we nearly didn’t make it out in the first place. Someone put the Channel 7 on-board camera and film on the car and it caught fire:

  Dad had to put it out before it took hold! Then we got out there and I put 20 seconds into the rest of the field in eight laps . . .
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